FILED

SID J. WHITE

ACT 24 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By \_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,411

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

MARTY DARRISAW,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

**JOAN FOWLER** Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #339067

WILLIAM A. SPILLIAS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #909769 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellant

#

# INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, MARTY DARRISAW, was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The relevant facts of this case were succinctly set forth in the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Darrisaw v.</u> <u>State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1870 (Fla. Sept. 9, 1994) (on motion for rehearing), as follows:

> Appellant was convicted of robbery with a firearm, grand and aggravated theft auto, assault. The quidelines that scoresheet revealed appellant's recommended range was  $3 \ 1/2 \ - \ 4 \ 1/2$  years, and the permitted range was 2 1/2 to 5 1/2 years imprisonment. The trial court elected to depart from the guidelines and impose a 40 year sentence in the DOC on the following grounds: (1) that appellant was employed at the of the offense as a time correctional officer and that the commission of the offense the public was a breach of trust; and (2) appellant's escalating pattern of criminal activity.

> > \* \* \* \* \*

The second reason was based on appellant's prior record of two convictions of misdemeanor trespassing and resisting arrest without violence which occurred four years prior to the instant trial court offense. The concluded that departure was appropriate because the record reflected an escalating pattern criminal conduct from of nonviolent to violent crimes, from misdemeanors to felonies, and from non-personal to personal crimes.

(See Appendix A).

On rehearing the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the trial court's first reason was not a valid reason for departure because there was no evidence that appellant's position was in any way used to facilitate the crime. Id.<sup>1</sup> However, the Fourth District changed course on rehearing from its original opinion with respect to the trial court's "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" ground for departure. The Fourth District suggested, based upon its interpretation of Barfield v. State, 594 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1992), and Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992), that the three categories set forth in Barfield as necessary to establish an escalating pattern of criminal activity under section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (1987), actually only "establish what will be considered 'escalating' criminal conduct, but... do not address what constitutes a 'pattern' of criminal conduct." Id. at D1871. The Fourth District proceeded to hold that because Respondent's previous misdemeanors were "dissimilar and remote to the instant armed robbery," they did not satisfy a pattern of criminal activity; Respondent's sentence was thus reversed and remanded for resentencing within the guidelines.  $Id.^2$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Fourth District held the same way in its original opinion in this cause, <u>Darrisaw v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1344 (Fla. 4th DCA July 1, 1994) (See Appendix B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fourth District noted that its holding was in line with <u>Smith v. State</u>, 507 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and <u>Davis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 534 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), <u>quashed on other</u> <u>grounds</u>, 549 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989).

The Fourth District certified the following question to this

Court:

IS A PATTERN OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT PROVED BY THE COMMISSION OF TWO OFFENSES NOT IN TEMPORAL PROXIMITY TO EACH OTHER OR OF A RELATED NATURE BUT OF INCREASING SERIOUSNESS AS DEFINED IN BARFIELD V. STATE?

Id.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An escalating pattern of criminal conduct is proven under section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes, by the commission of two offenses, the current offense and the prior offense, of increasing seriousness, as construed and defined in <u>Barfield v.</u> <u>State</u>, 594 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1992). This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative, and reverse the Fourth District's decision, based upon the clear language of section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes, and this Court's decision and reasoning in <u>Barfield v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1992), which clearly defined, interpreted, and/or construed the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of section 921.001(8).

In its opinion below, <u>see Darrisaw v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1870 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 9, 1994) (on motion for rehearing), the Fourth District basically "split" the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of section 921.001(8) in half, and held that there is a separate "<u>pattern</u> of criminal conduct" factor in said provision which can only be satisfied where there is (1) temporal proximity of offenses; and (2) similarity of offenses. The Fourth District's holding, however, has no foundation in the law and is in fact contrary to the clear language of both <u>Barfield</u> and section 921.001(8).

The Fourth District has "invented" the "similarity of offenses" factor even though this Court and the legislature, through section 921.001(8), have never recognized or suggested the existence of such a factor. The only authority apparently relied upon by the Fourth District was the existence of the

- 5 -

particular facts in Barfield and Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992), where the prior offenses were less serious than, but similar to, the current offenses for which the respective defendants had been sentenced. However, this Court's definition, interpretation, and/or construction of section 921.001(8) in Barfield, and reaffirmed in Taylor, contravenes the Fourth District's splitting of the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision and its "invention" of the heretofore nonexistent factor of similarity of offenses. Barfield and Taylor, as well as section 921.001(8) itself, make clear that the existence of a "similarity of offenses" factor within the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of section never contemplated by this Court the 921.001(8) was or legislature.

AN ESCALATING PATTERN OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT IS PROVEN UNDER SECTION 921.001(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, BY THE COMMISSION OF OFFENSES, THE CURRENT TWO OFFENSE AND THE PRIOR OFFENSE, OF INCREASING SERIOUSNESS, AS CONSTRUED AND DEFINED IN 594 SO. 2D BARFIELD V. STATE, 259 (FLA. 1992).

In the instant case, Respondent was convicted of robbery with a firearm, grand theft auto, and aggravated assault. The quidelines scoresheet revealed that appellant's recommended range was 3 1/2 to 4 1/2 years' imprisonment, and the permitted range The trial court elected was 2 1/2 to 5 1/2 years' imprisonment. to depart from the guidelines and impose a 40 year sentence in the DOC on the following grounds: (1) that appellant was employed at the time of the offense as a correctional officer and that the commission of the offense was a breach of the public appellant's escalating pattern of criminal trust; and (2)The second reason was based on appellant's prior activity. record of two misdemeanor convictions of trespassing and resisting arrest without violence which occurred four years prior to the instant offense. The trial court concluded that departure appropriate because the record reflected an escalating was pattern of criminal conduct from nonviolent to violent crimes, from misdemeanors to felonies, and from non-personal to personal See Darrisaw v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1870 (Fla. 4th crimes. DCA Sept. 9, 1994) (on motion for rehearing) (See Appendix A).

ISSUE

On rehearing the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the trial court's first reason was not a valid reason for departure because there was no evidence that appellant's position was in any way used to facilitate the crime. Id.<sup>3</sup> However, the Fourth District changed course on rehearing from its original opinion with respect to the trial court's "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" ground for departure. The Fourth District suggested, based upon its interpretation of Barfield v. State, 594 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1992), and Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992), that the three categories set forth in Barfield as necessary to establish an escalating pattern of criminal activity under section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (1987), actually only "establish what will be considered 'escalating' criminal conduct, but... do not address what constitutes a 'pattern' of criminal Id. at D1871. The Fourth District proceeded to hold conduct." that because Respondent's previous misdemeanors were "dissimilar and remote to the instant armed robbery," they did not satisfy a pattern of criminal activity; Respondent's sentence was thus reversed and remanded for resentencing within the guidelines. Id.<sup>4</sup>

The Fourth District certified the following question to this Court:

IS A PATTERN OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT PROVED BY THE COMMISSION OF TWO OFFENSES NOT IN TEMPORAL

- 8 -

Note footnote 1, p.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Note footnote 2, p.3.

PROXIMITY TO EACH OTHER OR OF A RELATED NATURE BUT OF INCREASING SERIOUSNESS AS DEFINED IN BARFIELD V. STATE?

Id.

The State submits that this Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative, and reverse the Fourth District's decision, based upon the clear language of section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes, and this Court's decision and reasoning in <u>Barfield v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1992), which clearly defined, interpreted, and/or construed the "escalating <u>pattern</u> of criminal conduct" provision of section 921.001(8).

Section 921.001(8) provides as follows:

trial court may impose Α а sentence outside the guidelines when credible facts proven by a preponderance of the evidence demonstrate that the defendant's prior record, including offenses adjudication for which was withheld, and the current criminal offense for which the defendant is being sentenced indicate an escalating pattern criminal of conduct. The escalating pattern of criminal conduct may be evidenced by a from progression nonviolent crimes to violent crimes or a progression of increasingly violent crimes.

(emphasis added).

In <u>Barfield</u>, 594 So. 2d at 259, this Court answered in the negative the following certified question from the Fourth District:

DOES THE TEMPORAL PROXIMITY OF CRIMES ALONE PROVIDE A VALID REASON FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES WITHOUT A FINDING OF A PERSISTENT PATTERN OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT?

(emphasis added). The State notes that the specific issue in Barfield, as framed by the certified question, involved only the factor of the temporal proximity alone of a prior crime in relation to the present subject crime(s) in the absence of a conduct.<sup>5</sup> criminal This persistent pattern of Court's explanation, reasoning, and eventual holding in Barfield clearly indicate that the narrow and limited issue it was addressing was whether temporal proximity alone is a valid reason to justify an upward departure sentence:

> We address this issue again in an effort to clarify when the temporal proximity of crimes can be a valid reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines. We are guided by the goal of the guidelines sentencing "to eliminate unwarranted variation the in sentencing process," Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(b), and to permit departures from the presumptive sentences only for

In <u>Barfield</u> the defendant was convicted of attempted trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to traffic in cocaine; the defendant had committed these offenses ninety days after his release from prison for trafficking in cocaine. <u>Barfield</u>, 594 So. 2d at 259, 260. On appeal, the Fourth District concluded that the defendant's commission of "'another Trafficking in Cocaine offense within a very short time of his release from prison'" was a valid basis for the upward departure sentence. Id. at 260.

clear and convincing reasons. While an offense committed soon after release from incarceration or supervision may show а disregard for the law and justify a judge's displeasure desire for a departure and sentence, such a persistent but nonescalating pattern of criminal activity is not а sufficient reason to depart from guidelines... Moreover, the habitual offender Florida's statute provides a statutory means of dealing with persistent criminal conduct. Section 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), authorizes the court, compliance with upon the statutory procedures, to "impose extended term of an imprisonment" for persistent criminal conduct. Therefore, we find that temporal proximity does not constitute a alone clear and convincing reason to depart from the guidelines...

(emphasis added) (citation omitted). <u>Id</u>. at 261. However, this Court proceeded to define, in detail, the factor at issue in the instant case; namely, "What constitutes an escalating <u>pattern</u> of criminal conduct?" This Court explained as follows:

> ₩e recognize that section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes authorizes departure (1987), from the sentencing guidelines "when credible facts... demonstrate that the defendant's prior record... and the current criminal offense for which the defendant sentenced is being indicate an escalating pattern of criminal conduct." Section 921.001(8) also provides that this escalating pattern may be evidenced by a "progression from nonviolent to violent crimes or

a progression of increasingly violent crimes." However, this this Court has construed not necessarily provision as requiring a violent progression. Departure is permissible when defendant has shown "the а <u>pattern</u> of engaging in serious criminal activity." <u>Williams v.</u> State, 581 So. 2d 144, 146 (Fla. Consequently, 1991). the "escalating pattern" recognized by section 921.001(8) as a valid basis for departure can be demonstrated in three ways: 1) a progression from nonviolent to violent crimes; 2) a progression of increasingly violent crimes; or 3) a pattern of increasingly criminal activity. serious category, third Under this "increasingly serious criminal activity" is indicated when the charge involves current an increase in either the degree of crime or the sentence which may be imposed, when compared with defendant's previous the offenses.

(emphasis added). Id.

This Court also proceeded to hold that the trial court's departure from the sentencing guidelines was valid under section 921.001(8) because his present offenses carried an increased penalty from his prior offenses, thus indicating "'an escalating pattern of criminal conduct'" under the third category (emphasis added). Id. at 261-262.

Likewise, in <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992), this Court found an escalating pattern of crimes in which a trial judge could properly impose a departure sentence where the defendant's first conviction in 1987 involved third-degree felonies and his subsequent offenses in 1988 and 1989 contained two second-degree felony convictions within a short period of time. This Court noted that in <u>Barfield</u> it had clarified when temporal proximity could be used as a reason for departure from the guidelines, and it explained as follows:

> Prior offenses no matter how close or remote in time alone not enough to show are an escalating pattern of criminal These prior offenses activity. are already scored on the guidelines sentencing scoresheet, the scored and may points increase the defendant's sentence. As we held in Hendrix v. State, 475 So. 2d 1218, 1220 (Fla. 1985), already factors taken into consideration on the scoresheet may not be used as a reason for departure. Thus, the timing of the prior offenses alone may not be used as a reason for departure. However, prior offenses committed within а close temporal proximity may be a basis for departure when found in conjunction with any one of the three factors outlined in Barfield.

(emphasis added). Id. at 542.

Clearly, both <u>Barfield</u> and <u>Taylor</u> addressed only the issue of temporal proximity alone as a basis for departure from the sentencing guidelines, but this Court in both cases defined, or interpreted and construed, the factors under section 921.001(8) which constitute, or establish, an escalating <u>pattern</u> of criminal conduct. In the instant case, the Fourth District reasoned as follows:

What we glean from Barfield and Taylor that is the three categories set forth in Barfield establish what will be considered "escalating" criminal conduct, but that they do not address what constitutes а "pattern" of criminal conduct. In both Barfield and Taylor the temporal proximity and similarity of the escalating criminal conduct established a "pattern." Here, on the other hand, the previous misdemeanors are dissimilar and remote to the instant armed robbery. In line with Smith [v. State, 507 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)] and Davis [v. State, 534 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), quashed on other grounds, 549 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989)] we hold that these two do not satisfy a pattern of criminal activity.

(emphasis added). Darrisaw, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1870, 1871 (See Appendix A). The Fourth District has thus basically "split" the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of section 921.001(8) in half, and held that there is a separate "pattern of criminal conduct" factor in said provision which can only be satisfied where there is (1) temporal proximity of offenses (the Fourth District, however, failed to specify or define what would constitute sufficient temporal proximity, other than holding that four years is insufficient); and (2) similarity of offenses. The State contends that the Fourth District's holding has no foundation in the law, and is in fact contrary to the clear language of both Barfield and section 921.001(8).

- 14 -

Regarding the "similarity of offenses" factor, the State contends that the Fourth District has "invented" this factor even the legislature, through section though this Court and 921.001(8), have never recognized or suggested the existence of such a factor. The only authority the Fourth District appears to rely upon is the existence of the particular facts in Barfield and Taylor, where the prior offenses were less serious, but similar, to the current offenses for which the respective The State asserts, however, that defendants had been sentenced. this Court's definition, interpretation and/or construction of and reaffirmed section 921.001(8) in Barfield, in Taylor, contravenes the Fourth District's splitting of the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of said statutory section and its "invention" of the heretofore non-existent factor of "similarity of offenses." As stated by this Court in Barfield:

> "escalating pattern" [T]he recognized by section 921.001(8) as a valid basis for departure can be demonstrated three in ways: 1) a progression from nonviolent to violent crimes; 2) a progression of increasingly violent crimes; and 3) a pattern of increasingly serious criminal Under this third activity. category, "increasingly serious criminal activity" is indicated when the current charge involves an increase in either the degree the sentence of of crime or may be imposed, when which compared with the defendant's previous offenses.

(emphasis added). Barfield, 594 So. 2d at 259, 261. The State Court's definition, notes that this interpretation, and/or construction of section 921.001(8) did not include a "similarity of offenses" factor, and this Court never referred to, mentioned suggested, or included such a factor. Therefore, despite the Fourth District's suggestion to the contrary, it is clear that the existence of a "similarity of offenses" factor within the "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" provision of section 921.001(8) was never contemplated by this Court in Barfield or Taylor.<sup>6</sup>7

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  The State further notes decisions from the First, Second, and Fourth District Courts of Appeal that have addressed the issue of an escalating pattern of criminal conduct as a basis for departure, and have relied upon Barfield as controlling authority; however, none of these districts (save for the Fourth District in the instant case) have referred to, suggested, mentioned, or included a "similarity of offenses" factor or have even suggested that the Florida Supreme Court contemplated such a factor in Barfield. See Mills v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1591 (Fla. 4th DCA July 27, 1994) (en banc); Cave v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1606 (Fla. 1st DCA July 25, 1994); Moore v. State, 634 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); <u>Lippman v. State</u>, 602 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 602 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). In fact, in many of these cases, the facts clearly indicate that the offenses were not similar. See Mills; Cave; Williams.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;As noted above, the Fourth District failed to delineate a sufficient time period that would satisfy the "temporal proximity" factor. Note <u>Williams</u>, 602 So. 2d at 562, however, where the Second District affirmed the trial court's upward departure sentence based upon an escalating pattern of criminal conduct; all of the defendant's prior offenses were 3-16 years prior to his current offenses, save for one prior offense which was one year prior to his current offenses.

# CONCLUSION

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