STATEMENT OF CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of the certified question submitted to the Supreme Court, Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the Sentencing Guidelines a "pattern" of criminal conduct is <u>not</u> proved merely by commission of a prior and a current offense not in temporal proximity to each other or of a related nature, even though of increasing seriousness; therefore the certified question must be answered in the negative.

The correct answer to the certified question submitted to the Supreme Court revolves around the meaning of "an escalating pattern of criminal conduct" as that term is used in § 921.001(8), Florida Statutes. When a prior conviction is for a less serious offense than the current crime, is that fact standing alone sufficient to support an upward departure sentence? Or is something more required? And if so, what is that something more?

The District Court found, in effect, that the Sentencing Guidelines require a factual predicate not only of "escalating" crimes, but also of a "pattern" either to the crimes or to the escalation. Because that finding is based on a correct application of the plain meaning of the words of the statute, it is correct. Likewise, the answer to the certified question put to the Supreme Court lies no deeper than the plain meaning of the statute's words.

The dictionary says "escalate" means "to increase in scale or intensity." It says "pattern" means "a recurrent set of features or characteristics." Put the words "escalate" and "pattern" together as the statute does, apply them to criminal conduct, and

they mean crimes increasing in seriousness, scale, or intensity, and also having a recurring set of features or characteristics.

So, an "increasing pattern of criminal conduct" means either that the nature of the crimes themselves show a pattern of increase in seriousness or scale, or if they do not show an increase in seriousness or scale, together they show a pattern of increasing intensity or frequency. The statute simply requires, to authorize a departure from the sentencing guidelines, that either the crimes themselves show, or the frequency of them over time shows, a "pattern" of increase. It is no more complicated than that.

This reading of the statute is consistent with the plain meaning of the words in the statute, and absolutely nothing about this reading of it is inconsistent with the opinion in **Barfield v. State**, 594 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992). In **Barfield** the court merely held that the temporal pattern was not present, but the pattern of increasing seriousness or scale to the crimes themselves was.

POINT I

Under the Sentencing Guidelines a "pattern" of criminal conduct is not proved by the commission of a prior offense and a current offense not in temporal proximity to each other or of a related nature, but merely of increasing seriousness. Absolutely nothing in **Barfield v. State**, 594 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992) suggests to the contrary. Therefore, the certified question must be answered in the negative.

Respondent Marty Darrisaw was employed as a state prison guard. While off duty in civilian clothes in another county from where employed, he took a gun in to a Checker's hamburger stand and robbed the store's manager. While fleeing the store he drove the manager's car several yards before abandoning it. In the parking lot as he drove away, he pointed the gun at an employee of the store and demanded the employee leave. (See: Brief of Appellant below.) Respondent Darrisaw was convicted of robbery with a firearm, grand theft auto, and aggravated assault. Darrisaw v. State, 19 Fla.L.Weekly D1870 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 9, 1994).

Under the Sentencing Guidelines, Respondent's "point total" for a Category 3 offense (i.e., robbery) placed him in the Recommended Range of 3 1/2 to 4 1/2 years incarceration, with a Permitted Range of 2 1/2 to 5 1/2 years. (1312G; 1329) The sentence recommended to the court by the Department of Corrections in the Presentence Investigation Report was any sentence "within

the recommended range." (1312G) Nevertheless, the trial judge imposed an upward-departure sentence of 40 years. (1313, 1318-9)

According to law, the reasons for any departure from the presumptive sentences established in the guidelines are required to be articulated in writing; departures may be made only where circumstances or factors reasonably justify the aggravation or mitigation of the sentence; and the level of proof required to establish facts supporting a departure from a guidelines sentence is by "a preponderance of the evidence." Rule 3.701(b)(6), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Here, the trial judge gave two reasons for upward departure. First, wrote the judge, the defendant "seriously breached a position of public trust" by committing the offense, inasmuch as he was a state correctional officer at the time. Second, wrote the judge, the defendant's past record reflects an incident where he was convicted for trespass and resisting an officer without violence, both charges being misdemeanors, and therefore the present offense reflects "an escalating pattern" of criminal conduct from non-violent to violent, from non-personal to personal, and from misdemeanor to felony. (1330)

On appeal the District Court found that neither reason given by the trial judge is a valid ground for a departure sentence. On the latter point, it found the record fails to reflect an "escalating pattern of criminal conduct." (1330)

The Attorney General objects to the latter finding, complaining that the District Court appears to be incorrectly

reading the Sentencing Guidelines to require, in support of an upward departure sentence, not only "escalating" criminal conduct but also "a pattern" to the crimes.

It is more accurate to say the District Court found the Sentencing Guidelines require a factual predicate not only of "escalating" crimes but also of a "pattern" to either the crimes or the escalation. It is perhaps a subtle difference, but an important one.

The certified question put to the Supreme Court revolves around the meaning of "an escalating pattern of criminal conduct," as that term is used in § 921.001(8), Florida Statutes. Is the fact that the prior conviction was for a less serious crime enough, by itself, to support an upward departure sentence? Is only "escalation" of crimes necessary? Or is something more required? If so, what is the nature of that something more?

Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes, authorizes departure from the sentencing guidelines "when credible facts demonstrate that the defendant's prior record . . . and the current criminal offense for which the defendant is being sentenced indicate an escalating pattern of criminal conduct."

Applying basic logic to the statute's words, a "pattern" of criminal conduct defines one thing, and "escalating" criminal conduct defines another. Unquestionably, what they define overlaps, but still they define different things. Some criminal conduct falls within one definition, some falls within the other, and some falls within both.

Logically, if you combine the two definitions as the statute does, thereby limiting yourself to an "escalating pattern" of criminal conduct, you are delineating only that conduct that falls into the overlapping category. You are delineating criminal conduct that satisfies both definitions rather than just one or the other.

Examples of conduct falling within one definition and not the other are easy to think of, as are examples of conduct that satisfies both definitions. Assume conviction for each offense mentioned in the following examples, to bring the statute's provision for departure sentencing into play.

First example: A woman litters the highway one day as she drives to visit a friend, six months later in the business she owns she evades payment of one month's worth of sales taxes, and two years after that an incident occurs at home in which she excessively spanks her child causing a permanent injury (i.e., physically abuses her child), She has engaged in criminal conduct that clearly "escalated" from less serious to more serious, from non-violent to violent, from misdemeanor to felony, but there is no "pattern" to her crimes, nor to the escalation. Her crimes are totally unrelated and dissimilar incidents.

Second example: Her husband goes out on the same day in December of every year, for ten years, and cuts down just one Christmas tree in a state forest without a permit. He is engaging in a clear, long-term, well-established "pattern" of criminal conduct, but neither his criminal conduct nor the pattern or

frequency of it are in any way "escalating." So the statute authorizing an upward departure sentence for "an escalating pattern of criminal conduct" simply does not apply. Instead, as noted in Barfield v. State, 594 So.2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992), Florida's habitual offender statute provides a statutory means of dealing with persistent criminal conduct. §775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989).

And third example: The couple in the above examples have a neighbor whose crimes meet both definitions. He also takes Christmas trees from the forest without permits, on the same day in December each year, but each year he takes a larger number of trees than the year before, until now he is taking them by the truckload and selling them at the roadside. This person is engaging in criminal conduct that has a distinct "pattern" to it over time, and is also clearly "escalating" in seriousness or scale.

From the case authorities cited in the Attorney General's brief and discussed in Barfield, one thing is completely clear. The departure provision of the Sentencing Guidelines is not worded to automatically and always apply to every person who is convicted of a crime today who in the past has been convicted of a less serious crime. Nor is it worded to apply automatically to one, two, three, or any specific number of prior crimes of less serious nature than the current one on which sentence is to be imposed. The statute easily enough could have been worded to automatically apply in either of those situations, but it was not. Instead, it

addresses a combination of present and prior crimes that, together, reflect an "increasing pattern" of criminal conduct.

The Attorney General bluntly says that the Fourth District has merely "invented" a "similarity of offenses" factor that the Supreme Court and the legislature never recognized or suggested as a part of § 921.001(8), Florida Statutes. But the Attorney General is wrong. The District Court "invented" nothing. The Supreme Court merely has to look to the words of the statute itself to find ample authority for the Fourth District's decision. That authority is found in the logical application of the statute's words as outlined above, and in the plain meaning of those words as discussed below.

When interpreting statutes, the plain meaning of words counts, and it counts for a lot. In interpreting statutes, Florida courts are constitutionally required to start there. Cf., Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1977).

The dictionary says "escalate" means "to increase in scale or intensity." The dictionary says "pattern" means "a recurrent set of features or characteristics." See: Webster's Illustrated Encyclopedic Dictionary, Tormont Publications, Inc., 1990 edition.

So, putting the words "escalate" and "pattern" together and applying them to criminal conduct, they refer to crimes increasing in seriousness or scale or intensity, and having a recurring set of features or characteristics.

In the examples given earlier, the woman in the first example who at different times littered the highway, evaded taxes, and

abused her child, committed crimes that lacked any recurring set of features or characteristics, though her crimes clearly increased in seriousness or scale. Nor was there any pattern to the increase itself.

Her husband, who illegally took just one Christmas tree in December of each year for ten years, did a series of criminal acts which had an unquestionably consistent and recurrent set of features or characteristics over a period of years, yet his crimes in no manner increased in scale or intensity or seriousness.

But their neighbor who also took Christmas trees in December of each year, taking a larger number each year until he was stealing them by the truckload, committed crimes involving a consistent or recurring set of features or characteristics, and also increasing in seriousness and scale.

Perhaps it all boils down to this. Whatever an "escalating pattern of criminal conduct" means, it means something more than simply that the defendant once was in trouble before, for a less serious crime then the present one. Any time someone is being sentenced for a second or third or fourth crime more serious than the earlier crime, the most recent crime is by definition an "escalation" from less serious to more serious. Every time that happens though, it does not necessarily reflect an "increasing pattern" of criminal conduct. Something more still has to be present for there to be a "pattern" to the crimes, or to the escalation. In other words, something more has to be present before the statutory provision in issue authorizes an upward

departure sentence. What that something more is, is the question.

How to distinguish between, on the one hand, criminal conduct that satisfies the definition of both "escalating" and "a pattern," and, on the other hand, criminal conduct that does not, is the If that distinction cannot be readily made -- if the statute's wording and the cases interpreting it leave that distinction vague in its application to real sentencings in real then the statute is void for cases vagueness, unconstitutional. Cf., Leeman v. State, 357 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1978); Schultz v. State, 361 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1978); Fla. Jur 2d, CRIMINAL LAW, § 9.

of course, the Attorney General maintains the statute is not vague. So perhaps the Attorney General can demonstrate that the distinction is easy to make. Respondent challenges the Attorney General to give, in the state's reply brief, at least four examples of multiple crimes, in which the current one is more serious than the previous ones, yet that clearly <u>fail</u> to meet the test for an "escalating pattern" of criminal conduct, explaining why the examples clearly fail to do so, and, more importantly, explaining why this defendant's case is distinguishable from each of those examples. The Attorney General's ability to do so may assist the Court significantly in drawing the distinctions. Conversely, the Attorney General's inability to do so may nicely demonstrate why the statute must be strictly construed, or perhaps even why it is void for vagueness.

The Attorney General maintains, in the state's brief, that the

definition of an "escalating pattern" applied by the Fourth District construes the wording of the Sentencing Guidelines too strictly. The Attorney General advocates a much broader construction. But it is axiomatic that criminal statutes and rules must be strictly construed. State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613, 615 (Fla. 1989). If there is any doubt as to their application or intent, that doubt must be resolved in favor of the accused citizen. Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709, 711 (Fla. 1979).

The Attorney General maintains the District Court wrongly found the record here fails to support a finding of an "escalating pattern" of criminal conduct, because the court incorrectly found a "pattern" is required.

As already pointed out, though, one prior criminal incident resulting in two misdemeanor convictions, four years earlier, without something more, does not make a "pattern" of any nature. There must be a "pattern" to the prior and present crimes, or to the nature of the escalation itself.

Here, the misdemeanor offenses were committed four years before the present offense. (1312C) Offenses committed four years apart were held not to constitute a "pattern" in Bogan v. State, 528 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Something more is required.

Here, the judge relied on two prior misdemeanor convictions. Two prior marijuana misdemeanor convictions were held insufficient to establish a "pattern" of escalation when the defendant was later convicted of two automobile burglaries and a household burglary in Cox v. State, 508 So.2d 1318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Also see:

Douglas v. State, 605 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Something more is required.

The Attorney General maintains that the decisions in Barfield v. State, 594 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992), and Taylor v. State, 601 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1992), contravene the Fourth District's view that "escalating pattern" means the trial court must find both escalation and some nature of pattern before imposing an upward departure sentence. The Attorney General says Barfield and Taylor contravene the District Court deciding this case based on any absence of facts to support the "pattern" element.

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